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Entity, Purchasing Selling Entity, Planning Authority and Reserve Sharing Group 
(NCR01219).  This violation is a ssociated with Duke’s r egistration as a  
Transmission Owner. 

 
5. Duke, as a Transmission Owner, owns a 525/230 kV transmission switchyard that 

connects the Oconee Nuclear Station to its transmission system.  This switchyard 
includes r elays t hat a re components of  a Protection S ystem, as d efined in t he 
NERC Glossary of Terms used in Reliability Standards and are therefore subject 
to the requirements contained in NERC Reliability Standard PRC-005-1. 

 
 

Violation of NERC Reliability Standard PRC-005-1, Requirement 2 
 

6. The pur pose of  NERC R eliability S tandard PRC-005-1 is “[to] ensure al l 
transmission and generation Protection Systems a ffecting the  reliability of  the  
Bulk Electric S ystem ( BES) ar e m aintained and tested.”  Requirement 2  of t he 
Standard requires each Transmission Owner that owns a transmission Protection 
System to pr ovide documentation of its  P rotection System ma intenance a nd 
testing program and the implementation of that program, including evidence that 
its P rotection System de vices w ere ma intained a nd tested within the defined 
intervals, as well as  t he date ea ch Protection System device w as l ast t ested and 
maintained.1

 
  

7. On September 4, 2008,  D uke c ontacted S ERC S taff t o di scuss t he p ending 
submittal of  a self-report.  D uke ha d uppe r m anagement a nd s ubject matter 
experts a vailable t o e xplain t he pe nding f iling a nd t o a llow S ERC Staff a n 
opportunity to ask any questions related to its submittal. 

 
8. On September 4, 2008, Duke filed a self-report stating that it had discovered that 

records could not be located to demonstrate twenty-three (23) relays located in the 
Oconee 525/230 kV s witchyard w ere m aintained a nd/or t ested pe r defined 
maintenance intervals.  

 
9. After c onfirming Duke’s N ERC r egistration status, SERC Staff com menced its 

detailed compliance a ssessment.  O n S eptember 5, 2008 , S ERC S taff i ssued t o 
Duke a Compliance Assessment Notice advising Duke of the initiation of a formal 
assessment to determine its  c ompliance s tatus f or N ERC R eliability S tandard 
PRC-005-1, R equirement 2 .  SERC S taff al so directed Duke to preserve al l 
relevant records and information.  SERC Staff promptly established direct contact 
with representatives o f Duke to b egin t he pr ocess of  gathering i nformation a nd 
documentation for the detailed compliance assessment.  SERC Staff reported the 

                                              
1 NERC Reliability Standard PRC-005-1 – Transmission and Generation Protection System Maintenance 

and Testing, approved by NERC Board of Trustees on May 2, 2006, approved by FERC effective June 18, 2007. 
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possible violation to NERC on September 12, 20 08, which, in turn, reported the 
possible violation to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“Commission”) 
in accordance with the Compliance Monitoring Enforcement Program (“CMEP”) 
of the NERC Rules of Procedure.  

 
10. On September 8, 2008, S ERC Staff requested additional information supporting 

the claim and findings associated with Duke’s internal investigation of the scope 
of t he vi olation, specifically whether D uke ha d com pleted maintenance of  t he 
other relays at the Oconee station and whether a similar gap existed at other Duke 
stations.  O n S eptember 10, 2008, D uke responded t o S ERC a nd s upplied t he 
records s upporting c ompliance w ith NERC R eliability S tandard PRC-005-1 f or 
other locations where s imilar c ircumstances c reated a s ituation where a s imilar 
violation could have been present. 

 
11. Based on its review, SERC found that prior to June 18, 2007, Duke had internally 

transferred responsibility for the maintenance and testing of the 23 subject relays 
from its  tr ansmission group to the nuclear ope rations g roup.  However, the 
handoff t o t he nuclear ope rations g roup resulted in a  ga p of  maintenance and 
testing coverage for t he 23 s ubject r elays.  This t ransfer was suc cessfully 
completed at tw o other s imilarly s ituated locations at the  s ame time , as was 
confirmed by Duke’s internal investigation that was reviewed by SERC Staff. 

 
12. SERC Staff concluded that the facts and evidence supported a finding that Duke 

violated NERC R eliability S tandard PRC-005-1, R equirement 2 , because t he 
evidence reviewed showed that Duke di d not ha ve e vidence that its  Protection 
System de vices w ere maintained and te sted w ithin the de fined intervals.  
Requirement 2  of N ERC R eliability S tandard PRC-005-1 is as signed a “H igh” 
VRF consistent with the VRF filed by NERC and approved by the Commission.  
SERC Staff concluded that the actual or  foreseeable r isk to the reliability of the  
Bulk Power System (“BPS”) as a result of this violation was minimal and did not 
pose a serious or substantial risk to the reliability of the BPS, as all 23 relays were 
tested a nd found t o b e operating p roperly a nd w ithin specifications.  If cal led 
upon t o ope rate, these r elays w ould ha ve pe rformed a s de signed t o pr otect t he 
generator and the BPS.  F urther, this i ssue concerned onl y 23 out  of  930 relays 
reviewed at the three similarly-situated switchyards. 

13. On August 14 , 2009, Duke formally r equested settlement di scussions f or t he 
resolution of the violations. 

 
III.   PARTIES’ SEPARATE REPRESENTATIONS 

 
 Statement of SERC and Summary of Findings 

 
14. SERC finds that beginning on J une 18, 2007 and continuing until September 21, 

2008, the date that Duke completed testing of its relays, Duke, as a Transmission 
Owner, di d not  ha ve evidence t hat 23 relays l ocated in the s ubject s witchyard 



 
Settlement Agreement of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and  
SERC Reliability Corporation  
 

 
Page 4 of 10 

were te sted and maintained with its de fined int ervals.  This i s a vi olation of  
NERC R eliability S tandard P RC-005-1, R equirement 2  for failing t o have 
“[e]vidence P rotection System de vices w ere m aintained and tested within the 
defined intervals.”   
 

15. SERC S taff c oncluded t hat t here w as no s erious or  s ubstantial r isk t o the 
reliability of the BPS, as discussed above.  

 
16. SERC agrees that this Settlement Agreement is in the best interest of the parties 

and in the best interest of BPS reliability.   
 
Statement of Duke  
 
17. Duke admits t hat t he facts s et f orth herein an d agreed to b y t he pa rties for 

purposes of  this Agreement constitute a  violation of  NERC Reliability Standard 
PRC-005-1, R equirement 2.   D uke believes tha t thi s S ettlement A greement is  
appropriate a nd j ustified unde r t he f acts a nd c ircumstances pr esented b y t his 
matter for the following reasons: 
 

i. Duke immediately tested the 23 Oconee Nuclear Station relays for which 
maintenance records could not be found, and all were found to be within 
prescribed tolerances.  

ii. Duke initially discovered that the subject records could not be located, and 
promptly self-reported t heir absence up on such discovery, on S eptember 
4, 2008.  

iii.  Duke reviewed the r elay maintenance r ecords a t al l t hree D uke nuclear 
sites a nd verified that a ll r elays a t the t hree s tations ha d be en p roperly 
included in the m aintenance p rogram apart f rom t he 23 Oconee r elays 
which are t he s ubject o f t his m atter.   O n September 4, 2008, Duke 
submitted to SERC a mitigation plan and self-report. The mitigation plan 
was accepted by SERC on March 19, 2009, approved by NERC on March 
30, 2009 and completed by Duke on September 21, 2008.      

iv. No aggravating factors were identified by Duke or SERC.  
  

18. Duke agrees to enter i nto this S ettlement A greement w ith SERC to avoid 
extended litigation with respect to the matters described or referred to herein, to 
avoid uncertainty, and to effectuate a complete and final resolution of the issues 
set forth herein.  Duke agrees that this Settlement Agreement is in the best interest 
of t he pa rties and in the  be st int erest of  maintaining a  reliable e lectric 
infrastructure.     

 
19. A num ber of  r ecent ini tiatives de monstrate D uke’s c ommitment to  a  s trong 

culture of compliance with the NERC Reliability Standards. First, Duke increased 
its c ompliance s taff by adding four pe rsonnel c ommitted to its r eliability 
standards C ompliance A dministration P rogram d uring 2008 a nd 2009. S econd, 



 
Settlement Agreement of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and  
SERC Reliability Corporation  
 

 
Page 5 of 10 

Duke’s reliability standards Executive Sponsor Committee, a team comprised of 
senior ma nagement c ommitted to fostering a  s trong reliability s tandards 
compliance ethic across the enterprise, endorsed creation of a reliability standards 
Steering Committee in February 2009. The S teering Committee is  charged with 
enhancing the culture of compliance across the company and providing guidance 
to the Compliance Administration Program. Third, in March 2009 D uke created 
and f illed a  ne w hi gh-ranking pos ition, V ice P resident  – Compliance a nd 
Integration. This official is responsible for independent operation and oversight of 
the r eliability standards C ompliance A dministration P rogram. T hese actions 
reinforce Duke’s ongoing commitment to reliability standards compliance.  

 
IV. MITIGATING ACTIONS, REMEDIES AND SANCTIONS 

 
20. Duke’s Mitigation Plan MIT-07-1518 for NERC Reliability Standard PRC-005-1, 

Requirement 2 , w as s ubmitted on  September 24 , 2008 a s c omplete.  It w as 
accepted by SERC on March 19, 2009 and submitted to NERC for its approval on 
March 20, 2009.  NERC approved the Mitigation Plan on M arch 30,  2009.  On 
September 25,  2008, Duke certified that its  M itigation Plan was completed on 
September 21 , 2008.  SERC s taff ve rified on March 30 , 2009 t hat Duke had 
completed its Mitigation Plan.  Duke’s Mitigation Plan MIT-07-1518 is attached 
hereto as Appendix A-1.  Duke’s Certification of Mitigation Plan Completion is 
attached hereto as Appendix A-2, and the Statement of  SERC Compliance Staff 
Regarding Completion of Duke’s Mitigation Plan MIT-07-1518 is attached hereto 
as Appendix A-3. 

 
21. Actions impl emented by Duke in its M itigation Plan will he lp to prevent a  

recurrence of any similar violation.  Specifically:  
 

a. Duke tested each of the 23 relays and recorded the results. 

b. Duke reviewed the records of other switchyard relays at the affected plant 
to ensure no other Protection System relays were excluded. 

c. Duke a lso r eviewed t he r ecords of  ot her s witchyard r elays a t s imilarly 
situated plants to ensure no other Protection System relays were excluded 
at thos e pl ant s witchyards.  No ot her r elays w ere f ound t o be  m issing 
records of maintenance and testing within their defined intervals. 

d. Duke included all relays found to be missing records into its preventative 
maintenance tracking software to ensure future work-orders are developed 
consistent w ith the m aintenance int ervals in its Protection System 
Maintenance and Testing program.   

22. SERC ha s r eviewed the pr eventative m easures described in the M itigation Plan 
and has determined that these measures will assist Duke in improving prospective 
compliance with the r equirements of  a ll of  the  Reliability S tandards, including 
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NERC R eliability S tandards P RC-005-1 and will ul timately enhance the  
reliability of the BPS within an appropriate time-frame.     

 
23. For its verification of the completion of Duke’s Mitigation Plan, SERC reviewed 

a s creenshot s howing t hat a ll of  t he r elays i dentified i n D uke’s m itigation pl an 
were now included in Duke’s preventative maintenance program.  The screen shot 
showed the i nputs f or t he pr eventative m aintenance program for  a ll affected 
relays.  SERC also reviewed copies of the work orders showing the maintenance 
and testing that were performed on each relay covered under this mitigation plan. 

  
24. SERC Staff also considered the specific facts and circumstances of the violation 

and Duke’s actions in response to the violation in determining a proposed penalty 
that meets the requirement in Section 215 of the Federal Power Act that “[ a]ny 
penalty i mposed unde r t his s ection s hall be ar a  r easonable r elation t o t he 
seriousness of the violation and shall take into consideration the efforts of [Duke] 
to remedy the violation in a timely manner.”2

a. Duke has had no pr ior vi olations of  this Standard or an y closely-related 
standard during the mandatory reliability period. 

  The factors considered by SERC 
Staff i n t he de termination of  t he a ppropriate p enalty for Duke’s violation of 
NERC R eliability Standard PRC-005-1 pursuant to this S ettlement A greement 
included the following: 

b. Duke cooperated in both a t imely and satisfactory manner w ith SERC S taff 
during t he i nvestigation.3

c. Duke agreed to resolve this issue via settlement and promptly initiated various 
mitigation a nd p reventative m easures be fore r eceiving a N otice of  A lleged 
Violation from SERC. 

  Duke provided pr ompt r esponses t o a ll of  S ERC 
Staff’s da ta r equests and c ooperated w ith S ERC S taff dur ing m eetings 
between the parties to discuss these events.  Duke proactively initiated its own 
internal inve stigation a nd vol untarily p rovided s upporting i nformation t o 
SERC Staff to assist in SERC Staff’s review of  the facts and circumstances.  
This i ncluded the s ubmission of  a de tailed Mitigation Plan and evidence 
resulting from internal assessments. Duke’s comprehensive response to SERC 
Staff’s questions enabled SERC Staff to conduct a  thorough investigation in 
an efficient manner. 

d. SERC Staff believes Duke has a well staffed and actively engaged compliance 
staff.  D uke’s compliance staff was responsive to SERC Staff’s requests and 
proactive in their activities to determine the complete scope of the violation. 

                                              
2 16 U.S.C. § 824o(e)(6). 
3 Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156, P 65 (May 15, 2008). 









 
Settlement Agreement of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and  
SERC Reliability Corporation  
 

 
Page 10 of 10 

APPENDIX A 
TO 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
OF 

SERC RELIABILITY CORPORATION 
AND 

DUKE ENERGY CAROLINAS, LLC 
 
 
 
 

(1) Duke’s Mitigation Plan for PRC-005-1, R2 
 

(2) Duke’s Certification of Mitigation Plan Completion for PRC-005-1, R2 
 

(3) Statement of SERC Reliability Corporation Compliance Staff Regarding 
Completion of Duke’s Mitigation Plan for PRC-005-1, R2 

 
 
 
 



Appendix A-1

For Public Release - February 9, 2010
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